S188161

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

NOV 1 5 2010

FRED AND D'ARCY TOMLINSON, individuals, Petitioners and Appellants,

Frederick K. Ontrich Clark
Decapy

V.

COUNTY OF ALAMEDA, BY AND THROUGH THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; and DOES 1 THROUGH 20, Defendant and Respondent,

Y.T. WONG, SMI CONSTRUCTION, INC., AND DOES 21 THROUGH 30, inclusive, Real Parties In Interest and Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW
BY REAL PARTIES IN INTEREST AND RESPONDENTS,
Y.T. WONG AND SMI CONSTRUCTION, INC.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. A125471

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the requirement in CEQA that a petitioner exhaust administrative remedies (Pub. Res. Code section 21177) applies when the public agency holds duly noticed public hearings on a project and concludes that the project qualifies for a CEQA exemption.

INTRODUCTION

Appellants herein, Fred and D'Arcy Tomlinson ("Tomlinsons") brought this petition challenging the County of Alameda's ("County") approval of an 11-home subdivision in the urban Fairview area of Alameda County. Tomlinsons argued to the trial court that the County did not comply with the California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA") and misapplied an exemption therein. The County and Real Party argued that Tomlinsons were precluded from raising an issue of noncompliance with CEQA because they failed to raise the issue in any of the numerous publically noticed hearings, thus failing to exhaust their administrative remedies. The trial court agreed and denied the petition. Tomlinsons appealed.

The First Appellate District, Division Five, reversed, concluding

Tomlinsons were <u>not required</u> to show that they had exhausted their

administrative remedies before seeking judicial review. This conclusion

was particularly unexpected by the parties in light of the fact that

Tomlinsons conceded in their appellate briefs that they were required to

exhaust their administrative remedies and argued that they did do so.

The matter was further complicated when another division of the First Appellate District issued an opinion holding that showing exhaustion of administrative remedies was <u>required</u> as a prerequisite to challenging a public agency's determination of a categorical exemption under CEQA. This opinion directly conflicts with the opinion for which review is sought herein.

The conflict in these opinions creates significant uncertainty about important law affecting every public agency in the State of California that is required to comply with CEQA and the public in general.

REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The California Supreme Court may order review of a Court of Appeal decision "[w]hen necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." California Rules of Court, Rule 8/500(b)(1). Review is warranted here for both reasons.

The First District Appellate Court's opinion is in <u>direct conflict</u> with *Hines v. California Coastal Commission* (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 830 ("*Hines*"), issued by a different panel of the First District. The *Hines* court was presented with the same issue as *Tomlinson*, but reached the opposite

conclusion, holding that petitioners were barred by the exhaustion doctrine from raising the CEQA noncompliance claims for the <u>first time</u> on judicial review of a determination that the challenged project was exempt from CEQA. Just as in *Tomlinson*, petitioners in *Hines* had ample opportunities to raise their CEQA claims at public hearings but failed to do so.

Review by the Supreme Court is necessary to ensure a unified approach to exhaustion of categorical exemption cases not only in the First District Court of Appeal but also throughout the State.

The Court of Appeal's opinion is also contrary to the longstanding public policy expressed in a long line of cases discussing the purpose behind the exhaustion of administrative remedies requirement – to allow a public agency the opportunity to review and address any issues arising under that agency's specific area of expertise, and render litigation unnecessary.

The issue of whether a party is required to satisfy the exhaustion of administrative remedies requirement when appealing a public agency's CEQA exemption determination is of critical importance to every city and county in the state, as well as the public in general, because further clarification is necessary regarding the jurisdictional requirement that a petitioner must first exhaust before judicial review may be sought on a CEQA exemption determination. Review should be granted because the Appellate Court's decision here has carved out a major exception to the

exhaustion requirement not codified in Public Resources Code §21177 by holding, in essence, that the requirement does not apply in matters where the public agency ultimately determines the project is exempt from CEQA, irrespective of whether or not petitioners had opportunities to present the noncompliance issue at public hearings or at public comment period.

Real Party also contends that the Appellate Court misinterpreted the Fourth District Appellate Court's decision in *Azusa Land Reclamation*Company, Inc. v. Main San Gabriel Basin Watermaster, et al. (1997) 52

Cal.App.4th 1165 ("Azusa"), extending the Azusa holding well beyond the facts in that case. Real Party contends that Azusa should be more narrowly construed.

This issue is ripe for final resolution by the Supreme Court in that only the highest court can resolve the conflict between the inconsistent opinions in *Hines* and this case. Further, a grant of review would provide the Supreme Court an opportunity to clarify the applicability of the holding in *Azusa* in CEQA exemption determination cases where public hearings are held or opportunity existed for petitioners to present their objections.

In order for this important issue to be resolved, Real Party respectfully requests that the Supreme Court grant review.

///

///

///

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. SUMMARY OF FACTS

On or about August 18, 2006, Real Party submitted an application to the Planning Department at the County of Alameda for the construction of a single-family subdivision ("the Project") in the area known as Fairview. (AR 2:290.)¹ The Project site is located in a single-family residential area of unincorporated Alameda County.

Real Party sought to merge two parcels into one parcel totaling 1.89 gross acres (AR 1:34) and to subdivide the merged parcel into 11 buildable lots, each to be developed with a single-family home. (AR 1:47.) Real Party worked for approximately two years to comply with all requests of the various municipal and county agencies. (AR 1:185.) Real Party also retained qualified professional consultants, including architects, civil and soils engineers, arborists, biologists, and archeological and historical consultants to address all requirements from the Planning Department. (AR 1:185-186.)

On or about July 2, 2007, the County Planning Department prepared a Preliminary Plan Review report and determined that the Project was exempt from CEQA under the "infill exemption" (CEQA Guidelines, Title 14, Code of Regulations § 15332) because "the proposed

¹ AR 2:290 refers to page 290 of Volume 2 of the Administrative Record lodged with the court. The preceding zeros on the page numbers have been eliminated from all AR citations.

development would occur in an established urban area, would not significantly impact traffic, noise, air or water quality, and could be served by required utilities and public services." (AR 1:34-46.) Despite finding that the Project qualified as an in-fill development under Section 15332, the Planning staff evaluated the Project in terms of its environmental impact per CEQA. (AR 1:34-40, 62.) The Preliminary Plan Review clearly indicated that the Planning staff carefully considered the residential density of the Project, as well as traffic and parking concerns, before recommending approval of the Project. (AR 1:38-46.)

After describing the findings and determinations of the Planning Department, the concerns expressed by the neighbors about the loss of view, potential traffic and parking problems, and the loss of trees on the property, the Planning Department recommended that the Planning Commission approve the Project. (AR 1:54-63.)

At the noticed public hearing of the Planning Commission held on July 2, 2007, Tomlinsons repeatedly indicated that their main concern was the loss of view from their property. (AR 1:72, 78, 102.) No mention was ever made, by either Tomlinsons or anyone else, that the Project may not comply with the definition of "in-fill exemption" under CEQA § 15332. The Planning Commission then continued the hearing for revision and consideration to December 17, 2007. (R1:69-74.)

During the December 17, 2007 hearing, and after informing the

Planning Commission that the Project qualified as infill for CEQA purposes, the Planning staff presented a detailed response to the comments received by Tomlinsons and their neighbors, thereafter concluding that lot sizes of the Project were consistent with the surrounding neighborhood. (AR 1:121.) Tomlinsons again complained that the Project would impact views, drainage, and create traffic and parking issues. (AR 1:135.) As before, neither Tomlinsons nor anyone else challenged the County's determination that the Project met the "in-fill exemption" under CEQA § 15332. Tomlinsons made general references to environmental review, but only in the context of the Specific Plan. (AR 1:134.)

On or about December 17, 2007, after completing the public hearing, the Planning Commission determined that the Project was "Categorically Exempt pursuant to Section 15332 (In fill Development)" of CEQA and that it complied with the applicable zoning ordinance requirements. (AR 1:1.) The Planning Commission unanimously approved the Project. (AR 1:186-187.)

On or about January 9, 2008, Tomlinsons appealed the Planning Commission's decision to the County of Alameda Board of Supervisors.

Tomlinsons sent a letter to the Planning Department expressing the two areas of concern for appeal – i.e., <u>traffic</u> and <u>residential density</u>. (AR 2:384-387.) Additional letters expressing concerns regarding the traffic and

residential density were sent to the Board on or about February 7, 2008 by neighbors of the Project. (AR 2:405-418.)

The Board of Supervisors heard Tomlinsons' appeal on April 8, 2008. Tomlinsons only presented unsubstantiated opinions, concerns and/or suspicions relating to their concerns about traffic and density. At no time during the hearing on appeal did Tomlinsons or anyone else challenge the County's application of the infill exemption.

At the end of the hearing, the Board of Supervisors denied

Tomlinsons' appeal and approved the project consistent with the findings of
the Planning Commission. (AR 1:16-18.)

B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Tomlinsons appealed the Board of Supervisors' approval of the project by filing their Petition for Writ of Mandate in the trial court below.

After the hearing on Tomlinsons' Petition for Writ of Mandate, the trial court issued an order denying Tomlinsons' petition and, in summary, determined that: there was no basis to reverse County's determination that the proposed density for the Project complies with the applicable general and specific plans (see Appellants' Appendix, Vol. 2, page 401-407 [AA 2:401-407]); Tomlinsons failed to exhaust their administrative remedies by failing to object that the Project was not to be built "within city limits" under CEQA Guidelines § 15332(b), and therefore were precluded from raising this issue for the first time on appeal (AA 2:409-412); Tomlinsons

failed to present substantial evidence to raise a fair argument that the Project will have a significant effect on the environment due to unusual circumstances (CEQA Guidelines § 15300.2) (AA 2:412-421); and, finally, the conditions included in the County's approval of the Project do not function as a mechanism to bring the Project within an exemption and, therefore, the rule against "mitigating into an exemption" did not apply (AA 2:421-425).

Apparently, dissatisfied with the trial court's decision, and continuing on their "not in my back yard" mission to prevent the project from going forward at any cost, Tomlinsons appealed the trial court's order.

On March 3, 2010, after review of the briefs submitted by the parties and the administrative record, and prior to the oral arguments on appeal, the First Appellate District requested additional briefing from the parties on the following issues:

- "(1) If this court determines that the project's alleged noncompliance with the exemption's "within city limits" criterion was not presented at the administrative level, does section 21177 preclude appellants' assertion of this ground of noncompliance in this action?
- (2) May this court consider whether section 21177 required assertion of the project's alleged noncompliance with the "within city limits" requirement at the administrative level, in light of appellant's failure to raise this issue in their briefing on appeal and their concessions in the trial court that they "do not claim that the potential exception [set out in Azusa] applies . . . [and] readily acknowledge that since the County held a hearing, [they] had a duty to exhaust."

On April 15, 2010, the parties presented their oral arguments before the First Appellate District.

On June 18, 2010, the Court of Appeal filed its original opinion reversing the trial court's order denying Tomlinsons' petition for writ of mandate, and remanding the matter to the trial court with instructions to issue a writ of mandate directing the County to set aside its decision approving the proposed subdivision and to comply with the requirements of CEQA when reconsidering approval of the proposed subdivision.

On July 14, 2010, after filing its petition for rehearing, respondent County sent a letter to the Court of Appeal advising it of a recent change in the publication status of *Hines v. California Coastal Commission* (A125254, June 17, 2010), which was not originally certified for publication prior to the Court of Appeal original decision in this matter.

On July 19, 2010, the Court of Appeal denied respondent County's petition for rehearing but, instead, issued an order granting rehearing on its own motion and requested additional briefing on the following issue:

"How does *Hines v. California Coastal Commission* (A125254, June 17, 2010) impact the court's holding, in light of *Azusa Land Reclamation Co. v. Main San Gabriel Basin Watermaster* (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 1165, that '[Public Resources Code] section 21177 does not bar Tomlinsons from challenging the County's exemption determination on the ground that the proposed subdivision is not 'within city limits.' (See *Azusa*, at p. 1209

[holding section 21177 does not apply in actions challenging an agency's exemption determination]."

After review of the parties' additional briefing, the Court of Appeal reiterated its prior decision by filing its October 6, 2010 opinion holding, in part, that the exhaustion of administrative remedies requirement does not apply in the action herein and, therefore, Section 21177 does not bar Tomlinsons from raising their CEQA noncompliance issue on the ground that the project cannot comply with the "within city limits" requirement of the in-fill categorical exemption.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

- A. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S OPINION IS IN DIRECT CONFLICT WITH THE HINES OPINION, CREATES AN EXCEPTION CONTRARY TO THE PLAIN LANGUAGE IN PUBLIC RESOURCES CODE § 21177, AND MISAPPLIES THE HOLDING IN AZUSA.
- 1. The Court of Appeal's Opinion Directly Conflicts With Its Own Decision In *Hines v. California Coastal Commission* (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 830.

The Court of Appeal's decision directly conflicts with another decision certified for publication by Division Two of the same court in *Hines v. California Coastal Commission* (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 830 (review denied October 13, 2010). In *Hines, supra*, the First Appellate District held "that appellants "failed to exhaust their administrative remedies . . . by failing to raise any issue regarding the purported violation

of CEQA before the county at any stage, despite ample notice that county staff considered the project exempt and several opportunities ... to raise any objection or argument with respect to the categorical exemption.

(§21177, subd. (a).)" Hines v. California Coastal Commission, supra, 186 Cal.App.4th at 852-853.

After considering the holding of Azusa Land Reclamation Company v. Main San Gabriel Basin Watermaster, supra, the Second Division of the First Appellate District Court held in Hines as follows: "Exhaustion of administrative remedies is a jurisdictional prerequisite to maintenance of a CEQA action.'... That requirement is satisfied if 'the alleged grounds for noncompliance with [CEQA] were presented...by any person during the public comment period provided by [CEQA] or prior to the close of the public hearing on the project before the issuance of the notice of determination." Id., at p. 853.

The *Hines* court concluded that section 21177's exhaustion requirement applies when there are public hearings that include environmental review, ample notice of such hearings is given notifying the agency's reliance on the exemption, and the public does not raise an objection to the exemption despite an opportunity to do so. *Hines, supra*, at pp. 852-855. Similar to the case before this Court, the *Hines* court determined that "there was ample notice before the multiple public hearings held with regard to the project that it was considered under the 'Class 3'

categorical exemption provision of Regulation § 15303, subdivision (a) (new single-family residence). *Id.*, at p. 854.

The Court of Appeal's decision here should be consistent with the decision in Hines, supra, given the similar facts and circumstances. In Hines, supra, the County issued several notices to appellants and other neighbors of their determination that the project was categorically exempt from CEQA. Id., at p. 836-839. Appellants spoke at public hearings. Despite making claims of other nonconformities, appellants made no claim about the determination that the project was exempt under CEQA. Following another public hearing, the Board of Supervisors approved the project after determining, among other things, that the project was categorically exempt from CEQA. The appellants in Hines, supra, again appealed the County's decision to the California Coastal Commission. Following yet another hearing at which appellants spoke, the Coastal Commission followed the recommendation of its staff, and unanimously determined that the appeal did not give rise to a "substantial issue." Id. Appellants filed a petition for writ of mandate. Trial court denied the petition. Id.

Even though the Court of Appeal's opinion here acknowledged that the *Hines* case involved facts and "circumstances similar to those presented here," the court nevertheless concluded, without explanation, that "[t]he court's holding in *Hines* does not alter its conclusion under *Azusa* that

section 21177's exhaustion requirement has no preclusive effect in this case." (Opinion, at p. 1422.)

Supreme Court review is necessary to resolve the direct conflict between the appellate decision in *Hines* and the Court of Appeal opinion herein.

2. The Judicially Created Exception To the Exhaustion of Administrative Remedies Statute Violates the Plain Language of Section 21177.

Despite the plain language in the statute, and agreement by all parties that the exhaustion of administrative remedies under Section 21177 applies in this action, the First District Court of Appeal reached a contrary conclusion by holding that Section 21177 does not apply to bar Tomlinsons' objection to the County's determination that the project is exempt from CEQA. (Opinion, p. 1417-1424.²) In support of its decision, the Court of Appeal ignored all prior decisions relating to the exhaustion of administrative remedies requirement. Instead, the Court of Appeal wholly relied on the Fourth District Court of Appeal decision in *Azusa Land Reclamation Company v. Main San Gabriel Basin Watermaster, supra*, and unfairly extended *Azusa* on the assumption that a project that complies with CEQA through a categorical exemption never has public hearings.

Public Resources Code § 21177(a) expressly provides as follows:

² Cited page numbers in Opinion refer to the page numbers in the California Official Report (Exhibit A).

"(a) No action or proceeding may be brought pursuant to Section 21167 <u>unless</u> the alleged grounds for noncompliance with this division were presented to the public agency orally or in writing by any person during the public comment period provided by this division or prior to the close of the public hearing on the project before the issuance of the notice of determination." (Public Resources Code § 21177(a); emphasis added.)

Based on the plain language of Section 21177(a), the exhaustion of administrative remedies doctrine is a <u>prerequisite</u> to any action claiming noncompliance with CEQA if there is a public hearing (or public hearings, in this case) or other opportunity for public comment prior to the public agency's decision regarding project approval. Public Resources Code § 21177(a).

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