IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

FRED AND D'ARCY TOMLINSON, individuals
Petitioners and Appellants,

V.

SUPREME COURT
FILED

DEC 3 - 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrigh Clark

COUNTY OF ALAMEDA, BY AND THROUGH

THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; and DOES 1 THROUGH 20,

Deputy

Defendant and Respondent,

Y.T. WONG, SMI CONSTRUCTION, INC. AND DOES 21 THROUGH 30, inclusive,

Real Parties in Interest and Respondents

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. A125471

Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Alameda,
The Honorable Frank Roesch
Alameda County Superior Court No. RG08396845

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

II. WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED IN THIS CASE

The Petition lacks merit for numerous reasons. First, the issues for which Real Parties seek review were correctly decided, from both procedural and substantive standpoints. Second, the case does not raise any issues that must be resolved in order to secure or maintain uniformity of decisions or to settle any important questions of law. The Court of Appeal's ruling is consistent with existing case law and the relevant statutory language regarding the extent to which petitioners must exhaust any administrative remedies when the agency claims a project is exempt from CEQA. The Court of Appeal followed settled law and strictly applied the governing statute in this matter on all dispositive points. No further direction from this Court on this subject is necessary.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Incorporation of Court of Appeal's Factual Summary

The administrative record ("AR") of decision in this matter is relatively small for a CEQA case, consisting of six bound volumes. The Court of Appeal managed to distill the general facts of the case into a concise and cogent summary, which the Tomlinsons hereby incorporate by reference. (See Exh. 1 attached hereto, pp. 2-7; see also, 188 Cal.App.4th 1406, 1410-1414.)

B. Additional Salient Procedural, Environmental, and Legal Facts

The Real Parties' Petition presents only some of the salient facts about the environmental review process and the extent of the Tomlinson's participation in the administrative process leading up to the approval of the challenged project.

To fill in the missing blanks, Appellants provide the following additional facts.

Real Parties first submitted a project application on August 18, 2006, later revised on April 12, 2007. (AR 2:290.) The project's neighbors sent numerous emails and letters to the County during this time, documenting concerns regarding adequate involvement of the public in the review process. (AR 2:311-314; 320-323.) Neighbors' concerns also included such issues as inadequate parking, traffic and tree removal. (*Ibid.*) The Tomlinsons first inquired about the details of the project in June of 2007. (AR 2:320.) Among other things, they raised concerns regarding inadequate parking, obstructed views, cumulative impacts associated with recent similar developments, public utilities, and building heights. (AR 2:320-323.)

On July 2, 2007, the Alameda County Planning Commission began its formal preliminary review of the project. County staff reported that issues such as drainage, parking, storm water quality protection measures, and inadequate information about project easements were of concern from the project's inception. (AR 2:290-293.)

The Staff Report for the July 2, 2007, hearing indicated that the Planning Department determined the project was exempt from CEQA under the "infill exemption" (CEQA Guidelines, § 15332) because "the proposed development would occur in an established urban area, would not significantly impact traffic, noise, air or water quality, and could be served by required utilities and public services." (AR 1:35.)²

After a discussion of various issues regarding tree removal, lot size, and fire department concerns, among other things, the Planning Department

²/ Notably, this description, like every other discussion of the claimed exemption in the County's records, fails to mention the additional mandatory requirement that the project be located "within city limits." (CEQA Guidelines, § 15332, subd. (b).)

concluded, "[r]esolving [parking, setbacks, sidewalk paving and viewshed] issues may require the loss of a parcel. If a parcel were to be removed, staff would like the applicant to re-evaluate the tree plan to determine whether one of the significant trees could be preserved on the site." (AR 1:42.)

At the initial Planning Commission hearing to consider the proposed project, at least one Planning Commissioner saw significant problems with the project:

Commissioner Carbone felt that this is a dense narrow project not meeting the parking requirements which will impact the neighborhood as Bayview Avenue will suffer. Thus, the project was not a benefit to the area. The project would be self-supporting with fewer units and redesigned with reduced heights [so] as to not impact the views, perhaps 8-9 units which would allow preservation of the heritage trees and three parking spaces for each unit.

(AR 1:73 [minutes].) The matter was then continued. (*Ibid*.)

The Tomlinsons and their neighbors sent letters to the County on November 30 and December 4, 2007, citing concerns about affordable housing, lot size, compatibility with surrounding properties, drainage, traffic, transit, and infrastructure, as well as planning consistency. (AR 2:331-339.) They provided a petition listing the names of all of the neighbors that opposed the project, citing potential traffic congestion as their main concern (AR 2:332-335, 343-348), although they also questioned how the project could be exempt from environmental review, given their understanding that the Fairview Area Specific Plan required such review for infill projects (AR 2:351).

On December 17, 2007, the Planning Commission considered the project again. (AR 1:1.) D'Arcy Tomlinson conveyed to the Planning Commission her view that an environmental assessment of this area was "critical," in light of the multiple environmental concerns raised by the Fairview community. (AR 1:78.)

Planning staff again asserted that the project was exempt from CEQA at this hearing. (AR 1:62-63.) As would be repeated throughout the administrative

process, the staff justified this conclusion because they concluded the project would occur in an "established urban area," even though the Fairview Area Plan specifically depicts the Fairview area as "rural." (AR 1:62; 3:683.) The staff report stated the following to justify the exemption conclusion:

Some environmental factors, such as impacts on agricultural or mineral resources, would not be impacted because of the location of the project. Other impacts, such as air quality, noise and water quality associated with the construction of the project, would be similar to any other construction project and would be addressed by standard conditions. The project would be located in an established urban area and is consistent with the applicable General Plan designation for the area, so impacts on public services, utilities, hazards, recreation, population, land use and traffic would not be significant. In terms of traffic, comments from the Traffic Division indicated that no significant traffic impacts are anticipated as result of this project. Aesthetic impacts are generally considered from public views; since this property is not visible from a public view point, such as Don Castro Recreation Area, and the visual character of the single-family homes would be consistent with the development of the surrounding area, aesthetic impacts would not be considered significant. Biological resources (including tree analysis), cultural resources, geological and soils issues have been analyzed by experts. While some conditions were recommended to ensure that possible impacts are avoided, the reports indicated that there were no significant impacts expected to occur as result of the project.

(AR 1:62, italics added.) The Planning Commission then approved the project. (AR 1:1-2.)

The Tomlinsons appealed the Planning Commission decision and sent a letter to the County on January 9, 2008, further explaining their concerns regarding traffic and residential density. (AR 2:384-387.) Contrary to the Real Parties' characterization of their communications as devoid of any mention of the exemption (Petition for Review, pp. 8-9), the Tomlinsons also continued to express skepticism of the determination that the project was exempt from environmental review, asserting that cumulative impacts intended to be addressed

under the Fairview Area Specific Plan were evading consideration under the County's approach. (AR 2:385.)

At the April 8, 2008, Board of Supervisors hearing on their appeal, the Tomlinsons again questioned the determination that the project could be exempt from environmental review due to their understanding that the Fairview Area Specific Plan required consideration of cumulative effects for projects within its boundaries. (AR 6:1413 [Tomlinsons' Powerpoint presentation to Board].) They also reiterated their concerns about unstudied traffic impacts (AR 6:1414-1415) and project consistency with the surrounding neighborhood (AR 6:1416-1417).

At the end of the hearing, the Board denied the appeal and approved the project, contingent on reducing the heights of four of the proposed homes. (AR 1:18.) The County did not post a notice of exemption with the County Clerk documenting the Board's adoption of the CEQA exemption.³

IV. OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. The Court of Appeal's Opinion Is Consistent with Settled Law and the Plain Language of the Statute Regarding Exhaustion of Administrative Remedies in CEQA Cases.

In holding that the Tomlinsons were not required to have raised the issue of the County's failure to meet the "within city limits" criterion of the claimed infill exemption during the County's administrative appeal process prior to litigating this issue, the Court of Appeal faithfully adhered to the settled law set forth Azusa Land Reclamation Co. v. Main San Gabriel Basin Watermaster (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 1165, as well as the plain language of the applicable statutory authority. This Court should reject the Real Parties' attempt to expand

³/The filing of a notice of exemption is only optional, not required under CEQA, but does affect the statute of limitations, which is 180 days after project approval if no notice is posted. (Pub. Resources Code, § 21167, subd. (d).)

the scope of the exhaustion requirement to circumstances which are not covered by the express terms of Public Resources Code section 21177, subdivision (a). That section of the CEQA statute provides:

No action or proceeding may be brought to attack, review, set aside, void, or annul certain acts or decisions of a public agency on the grounds of noncompliance with this division [CEQA] unless the alleged grounds for noncompliance with this division were presented to the public agency orally or in writing by any person during the public comment period provided by this division or prior to the close of the public hearing on the project before the issuance of the notice of determination.

(Italics added.)

The Azusa court carefully reviewed this language and strictly applied it in reaching the conclusion that CEQA's exhaustion requirement does not apply to exemption determinations because CEQA does not provide for any public comment period prior to making a final determination that a project qualifies for an exemption, nor is a notice of determination required to be issued after approving a project in reliance upon an exemption. (52 Cal.App.4th at p. 1210.) Neither of those circumstances was present in the County's processing of the proposed project in this case. The application of the infill exemption requires no formal comment period under CEQA, and the County did not file any notice of determination (or exemption) following its approval of the project. Therefore, the Court of Appeal correctly applied the Azusa precedent to find no exhaustion prerequisite for challenging the County's exemption determination.

Real Parties argue that the Court of Appeal in this case, as well as in *Azusa*, read Section 21177, subdivision (a), incorrectly, asserting that both decisions erroneously assume that an exempt project never receives public hearings. (Petition for Review, p. 17.) It is Real Parties' reading of the law, however, that is incorrect. Neither court made a mistake of law; rather, both strictly applied the language of the statute, as they should. The statute refers to a "public hearing on the project before the issuance of the notice of determination."

(Pub. Resources Code, § 21177, subd. (a).) The *Azusa* court correctly noted, and the Court of Appeal in this case agreed, that by referring to a notice of determination, as well as to projects for which CEQA requires a public comment period, the statute does not appear to cover decisions, because those types of determinations require neither a public comment period nor the issuance of a notice of determination. (*Azusa, supra,* 52 Cal.App.4th at p. 1209; Slip Op., pp. 16-17 [188 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1421-1422].)

Real Parties further argue that the Court of Appeal in this case mistakenly distinguished "notices of determination" from "notices of exemption," asserting that they are one and the same and should be treated under Public Resources Code section 21177, subdivision (a), as non-distinct, so as to extend an exhaustion requirement to exemption determinations. (Petition for Review, pp. 17-18.) Real Parties' assertion that the statute supports no distinction between the two types of notice is incorrect. In fact, the very same sections of CEQA that Real Parties claim require treating the two types of notice identically, Public Resources Code Sections 21108 and 21152, actually provide a key distinction between the two types of notices. In the case of projects subject to CEQA (i.e., where an initial study and negative declaration or environmental impact report has been prepared for the project), the filing of a notice of determination is mandatory. (Pub. Resources Code, §§ 21108, subd. (a); 21152, subd. (a) [state or local agencies "shall file notice of the approval or determination" with either the Office of Planning and Research or county clerk].) For projects determined not to be subject to CEQA (i.e., exempt), however, the filing of a notice memorializing the approval is optional. (Pub. Resources Code, §§ 21108, subd. (b); 21152, subd. (b) [state or local agencies "may file notice of the approval or determination" with either the Office of Planning and Research or county clerk].) As previously noted, in this case, the County never filed any notice of exemption or

"determination" following the Board's approval of the project, underscoring the disparate requirements for exempt projects under the law as compared to projects that are "subject to CEQA."

Real Parties further discount the weight that the CEQA Guidelines are to be afforded in interpreting and applying CEQA. Real Parties criticize the Court of Appeal's reliance on Guidelines Section 15062 in distinguishing between the two types of notice, but in doing so they disregard the fact that the statute itself also distinguishes the two by providing a different statute of limitations for each type of "determination." (Compare Pub. Resources Code, § 21167, subdivisions (b) and (c) [30 days] to subdivision (d) [35 days or 180 days, depending on whether the optional notice is filed].)

The Court of Appeal's Opinion expressly cautioned against the expansive reading of the term "notice of determination" in Public Resources Code, section 21177, subdivision (a), that Real Parties urge this Court to follow:

Section 21177, subdivision (a)'s reference to the "issuance of the notice of determination" may not be construed to encompass every agency decision. Under CEQA, the term "notice of determination" refers to a document an agency must file "[w]henever [it] approves or determines to carry out a project that is subject to this division [(CEQA)]" ([Pub. Resources Code,] § 21108, subd. (a), 21152, subd. (a).) The Guidelines set out special requirements for this document and confirm that the term "notice of determination" applies when projects are subject to CEQA. (See Guidelines, § 15094 [contemplating an environmental impact report or initial study showing no significant effect on the environment].) When an agency determines that CEQA does not apply because a project is exempt, it may file a "notice of the determination" (§§ 21108, subd. (b), 21152, subd. (b).) The Guidelines refer to this filing as a "notice of exemption" and treat it as a separate document with its own requirements and statute of limitations. (Guidelines, § 15062; compare § 21167, subd. (d) [a notice of exemption commences a 35-day statute of limitations]; see also § 21167, subds. (b) & (c).) There is no indication the County filed a notice of exemption in this case.

(Slip Op., pp. 16-17, fn. 11; 188 Cal.App.4th 1406, 1422, fn. 11.) The Court of Appeal's Opinion demonstrates that it considered *all* of the

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